SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

BETTY JONES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, as Assignee of MICHAEL PRATT, d/b/a SPRUILL AUTO SALES, CASE NO. SC03-1259

Petitioner,

v.

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, INC., individually, and on behalf of DEALERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

George A. Vaka, Esquire Florida Bar No. 374016 VAKA, LARSON & JOHNSON, P.L. One Harbour Place 777 S. Harbour Island Blvd. Suite 300 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 228-6688

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STANDARD OF REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff, Betty Jones, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, as Assignee of Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales,^{1/} provides the Statement of the Case and Facts as follows:

This case involves FIGA's failure to defend an insured of Dealers Insurance Company ("Dealers"), an insolvent insurer, under a garage liability policy that provided automobile liability and bodily injury liability insurance. The underlying case sought damages for the wrongful death of Althea Jones arising from the alleged ownership, maintenance, use or control of a motor vehicle by the named insured, Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales. Pratt was eventually defaulted, and a jury returned a verdict in the amount of Seventy-Five Million Dollars (\$75,000,000.00) which was

<u>1</u>/

For ease of reference herein, the Plaintiff/Petitioner, Betty Jones, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, as Assignee of Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales, will be referred to as the Plaintiff or Estate. The Defendant/Respondent, Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, Inc., individually and on behalf of Dealers Insurance Company, will be referred to as FIGA. All other persons will be referred to by name. All references to the record on appeal will be referred to as (R.) followed by citation to the volume and page number of the record. Any reference to the supplemental record on appeal will be referred to as (S.R.) followed by citation to the volume and page number of the supplemental record. Citations to deposition exhibit numbers 1-50 will be to the exhibit number.

subsequently reduced to a judgment. The present case involved Plaintiff's efforts to collect that judgment.

The present case was brought by Betty Jones in two separate capacities; first, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, and second, as Assignee of Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales. (R. V. I, 1-2)^{2/} The complaint stated that Michael Pratt had in effect automobile insurance coverage with Dealers under Policy No. GP113857, and that as a result of the insolvency of Dealers, FIGA assumed the handling of claims against Dealers and its insureds pursuant to the Florida Insurance Guaranty Association Act. (R.V. I, 1, 2) The complaint further stated that on May 18, 1994, Heath Gilliam was operating a motor vehicle in Leon County, Florida, which was involved in an accident in which the vehicle he was operating collided with a vehicle being driven by Althea Jones resulting in her death on May 19, 1994. (R.V. I, 1-3, 23-30) It was alleged that the amended complaint in the underlying tort action [hereinafter the "underlying complaint"] asserted that Heath Gilliam was responsible for the death of Althea Jones through the negligent operation of the motor vehicle. The underlying complaint also alleged that Mr. Gilliam was operating the vehicle with the permission of Anthony Dixon, an employee of Spruill Auto Sales, and Michael Pratt

<u>2</u>/

Pursuant to <u>Fla.R.App.P.</u> 9.220, an appendix which includes the complaint, its exhibits and the insurance policy at issue are attached to this brief.

had given his permission to Mr. Dixon to operate the vehicle which was available for sale at Spruill. (R. V. I, 1, 3-4, 25-29) The underlying complaint sought damages, pursuant to the Wrongful Death Act, on behalf of the Estate and for the sole known survivor, Aisha Murray, then age 12. (R.V. I, 26)

The present complaint also stated that the underlying complaint had been served upon Michael Pratt on April 15, 1996, that FIGA had been placed on notice to that action, but nevertheless refused to defend Michael Pratt. (R.V. I, 1, 4) The Estate alleged that as a result of FIGA's failure to defend Michael Pratt, a default was entered against him, and pursuant to a jury's verdict, a final judgment was entered on May 16, 1997 in the amount of Seventy-Five Million Dollars (\$75,000,000.00) which was to bear interest at the legal rate. (R.V. I, 4-5) The complaint concluded by stating that Michael Pratt had assigned all of his rights against Dealers and/or FIGA to Betty Jones, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, and a proof of claim form for the loss was filed with the Florida Department of Insurance in the matter of the receivership of Dealers on September 29, 1995. (R.V. I, 1, 5)

The Estate's complaint against FIGA stated three counts. Count I was for breach of FIGA's statutory obligations. It stated that the underlying complaint alleged a claim within the scope of the insuring agreement of the Dealers' policy, and demonstrated there was an obligation to defend Michael Pratt in the tort action. (R.V. I, 5-6) Count I further stated that FIGA was deemed an insurer to the extent of Dealers' obligations on covered claims and to such extent, had the same rights, duties and obligations of Dealers as if Dealers had not become insolvent. Count I further stated that FIGA was obligated to act in the capacity of an insurer as to the claims pursued by Mrs. Jones, and FIGA had a statutory duty to both defend and indemnify Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales for the liability arising in the underlying case. Count I stated that FIGA had a duty to investigate and adjust the claim in a good-faith manner, a duty to defend Michael Pratt for claims coming within the insuring agreement, a duty to indemnify him for claims falling within the scope of the insuring agreement, a duty to make all requisite payments under the policy, and further, a duty to attempt in good faith to settle the claims when under all the circumstances, it could have and should have done so had it acted fairly and honestly toward Michael Pratt. Count I stated that as a result of FIGA's failure to comply with its statutory obligations, Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales, had suffered catastrophic damages in the amount of Seventy-Five Million Dollars (\$75,000,000.00) plus interest accruing thereon at the statutory rate. (R.V. I, 1, 7-8)

Count II contained the same material allegations, but sought damages against FIGA for breach of contract. (R.V. I, 1, 9-12) Count III again incorporated the same material allegations and sought to impose liability upon FIGA for breach of fiduciary duties. (R.V. I, 12-15) Mrs. Jones sought a judgment against FIGA awarding her all the damages incurred as a result of the judgment entered against Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales, attorneys' fees, costs and interest. (R.V. I, 1, 15)

FIGA eventually answered the complaint, and for the most part, generally denied the allegations. (R.V. I, 31-37) Ultimately, after various motions and agreements between the parties, FIGA asserted three affirmative defenses. Those defenses were that FIGA's liability was limited by Fla. Stat. § 631.57, that Michael Pratt had fraudulently procured the policy from Dealers, and as such, the claim was rightfully denied based upon misrepresentations in the application for insurance, and third, FIGA asserted that the Plaintiff had failed to timely file the claim, and as such, it was time barred. (R.V. I, 48-49) The parties conducted discovery and filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R.V. I, 159-162, R.V. II, 210-214) The trial court entered an order denying FIGA's motion for summary judgment and granting the Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. (R.V. II, 320-321) The trial court determined that FIGA had a duty to defend Michael Pratt, and because it had failed to do so, he had a Seventy-Five Million Dollar (\$75,000,000.00) judgment entered against him. The trial court further determined that the statute of limitations did not bar the Plaintiff's claims, and any purported misrepresentations concerning the insurance application did not provide a basis for FIGA to void the policy because the undisputed facts showed that Dealers did not rely upon such misrepresentations in issuing and maintaining the policy. (R.V. II, 320-321)

FIGA appealed that judgment to the First District Court of Appeal. The Plaintiff cross appealed the trial court's determination of the amount of damages. The First District reversed the judgment and found that the alleged causes of action for breach of contract, breach of statutory duty and breach of fiduciary duty were not cognizable under Florida law. The First District concluded that the claims for damages were barred by FIGA's immunity protection and relied upon the Third District's decision in <u>Fernandez v. Florida Ins. Guaranty Assn., Inc.</u>, 383 So.2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) for its decision. The Plaintiff timely invoked this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, and by order dated January 7, 2004, this Court accepted jurisdiction of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>The Policy Issued by Dealers</u>

Dealers issued a Garage Policy to Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales, (Ex.

23) with an effective policy period of March 11, 1994 to March 11, 1995. The policy provided Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000.00) in automobile liability insurance.

Part I of the policy identifies defined terms in the policy. Of significance here, the policy states:

- A. **"You"** and **"Your"** mean the person or organization shown as the named insured in ITEM 1 of the declarations.
- •••
- C. "Accident" includes continuous or repeated exposure to the same conditions resulting in **bodily injury** or **property damage** the **insured** neither expected nor intended.
- D. **"Auto"** means a land motor vehicle, trailer or semi-trailer designed for travel on public roads.
- E. **"Bodily injury"** means bodily injury, sickness or disease including death resulting from any of these.
- F. "Garage operations" means the ownership, maintenance or use of locations for garage business and that portion of the roads or other accesses that adjoin these locations. <u>Garage operations</u> <u>includes the ownership, maintenance or use of the **autos** indicated <u>in PART II as covered **autos**</u>. Garage operations also include all operations necessary or incidental to a garage business. [emphasis supplied]</u>

Part II of the policy identifies which automobiles are covered automobiles. It

provides in pertinent part:

A. ITEM TWO of the declarations shows the **autos** which are covered **autos** for each of **your** coverages. The numerical symbols explained in ITEM THREE of the declarations describes which **autos** are covered **autos**. The symbols entered next to a coverage designate the only **autos** that are covered **autos**.

B. OWNED AUTOS YOU ACQUIRE AFTER THE POLICY BEGINS.

1. If symbols "21", "22", "23", "24", "25" or "26" are entered next to a coverage in ITEM TWO, then **you** already have coverage for **autos** of the type described until the policy ends.

In the declarations page of the policy issued to Michael Pratt, the numerical

symbol number 21 is listed next to the liability coverage of the policy. This symbol

number 21is defined on the declarations page as "ANY AUTO."

Part IV addresses the liability insurance coverage. It provides in pertinent part

as follows:

A. WE WILL PAY.

1. We will pay all sums the **insured** legally must pay as damages because of **bodily injury** or **property damage** to which this insurance applies caused by an **accident** and resulting from **garage operations.** 2. We have the right and the duty to defend any suit asking for these damages. However, we have no duty to defend suits for **bodily injury** or **property damage** not covered by this policy.

B. WE WILL ALSO PAY.

 All interest accruing after the entry of a judgment in a suit we defend. Our duty to pay interest ends when we pay or tender our limit of liability.

The policy also identifies who is an insured. It states:

D. WHO IS AN INSURED.

- 1. For Covered Autos.
 - a. You are an insured for any covered auto.

(Ex. 23)

B. <u>FIGA's Claim Handling</u>

As mentioned in the Statement of the Case, FIGA asserted that Michael Pratt had made misrepresentations in the application for the policy. In applying for the policy, Michael Pratt signed the application for insurance disclosing his driving record and that of a Mr. McClendon. (Ex. 26) The information concerning the driving history of both Pratt and McClendon was not accurate. However, Dealers investigated their driving records, and upon discovery that there had been infractions, it increased the premium, but kept the policy in force and effect. (Ex. 15; S.R.V. III, 457-459) On May 19, 1994, while the policy was in effect, the vehicle operated by Heath Gilliam in Leon County struck the vehicle operated by Plaintiff's decedent, Althea Jones, which resulted in her death.

Dealers was declared insolvent on December 19, 1994, and the Department of Insurance was appointed as receiver. On September 29, 1995, Mrs. Jones filed her claim to the receiver and indicated the amount of the claim to be Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00). (R.V. I, 79; Ex. 39) FIGA confirmed that the deadline to make a claim was October 1, 1995. (R.V. I, 79)

In the fall of 1995, Plaintiff's counsel began to communicate with James Leezer, the adjuster for FIGA. Mrs. Jones' lawyer provided FIGA with a great deal of information and outlined his liability and damages theories and offered to settle the claim for the limits. (Ex. 30-31, 36, 40) On October 24, 1995, the Estate's lawyer again contacted Mr. Leezer advising that there had not been a tender of the \$25,000.00 policy limits. (Ex. 31) The letter indicated that the Estate would like to settle the case, but apparently there was nothing they could do to convince FIGA to pay the claim. Id. The letter concluded that if there was no tender within two weeks, a suit would be filed. Mr. Leezer responded, in part by threatening, ". . . If you choose to file suit, you may also very well choose for us to deny coverage." (Ex. 32)

Mrs. Jones brought suit on behalf of Althea Jones, as sole survivor, her minor daughter, Aisha, against Heath Gilliam and Government Employees Insurance Company, Althea Jones' uninsured motorist carrier. (Ex. 1) That complaint ultimately was amended in mid-March, 1996, to add Michael Pratt, d/b/a Spruill Auto Sales. (R.V. I, 79-80)^{3/} (Ex. 8) The Estate's lawyer sent a copy of the amended complaint along with a return of service indicating Michael Pratt had been served on April 15, 1996 to James Leezer, the FIGA adjuster, who was still handling the file.

Once again, the Estate offered to settle the case. Mr. Leezer and FIGA acknowledged receipt of those documents. ((Ex. 47) (S.R.V. I, 112-113)) On May 1, 1996, Mr. Leezer fulfilled his threat to deny coverage writing a letter to Michael Pratt advising him that FIGA was denying coverage and would not be providing Mr. Pratt with a defense. (S.R.V. II, 304-305; Ex. 53) Mr. Leezer also wrote to the Estate's attorney on May 16, 1995, advising that coverage had been denied, and FIGA would take no further action on the matter. (Ex. 48)

James Leezer, the senior claims examiner for FIGA, handled the Jones claim until his retirement, at which point in time, it was taken over by Sam Allen. (S.R.V. I, 9; S.R.V. II, 312) Mr. Leezer explained that FIGA's purported first notice of the

<u>3</u>/

FIGA or Dealers was not added as defendants because of the provisions of <u>Fla.</u> <u>Stat.</u> § 627.4136. (R.V. I, 79-80)

claim was a letter dated August 19, 1995 from the Estate's attorney. (S.R.V. I, 72) Shortly thereafter, he wrote the first of four letters sent certified mail to Michael Pratt. (S.R.V. I, 71-72; Ex. 21) At the time he wrote the letter advising it was FIGA's first notice of the claim, he did not know whether FIGA had even conducted a search of the Dealers records to determine if notice had been provided. (S.R.V. I, 72-75) The October 6, 1995 letter was returned to FIGA as undeliverable. FIGA knew that Michael Pratt had not received it. (S.R.V. I, 77; Ex. 21) FIGA sent a second letter to another address on November 8, 1995, again by certified mail. (S.R.V. I, 78; Ex. 22) That letter was signed for by an unidentified person, Chris Staten. (Ex. 22)

In his deposition, Mr. Leezer admitted that Michael Pratt would be under no obligation to report an accident if he did not own the vehicle that was involved or if he did know whether such an accident had occurred. (S.R.V. I, 179-181; S.R.V. II, 273-275, 289-290) He also stated four letters were sent to Michael Pratt, by certified mail, three of which were returned and one accepted by some unknown person who was not Pratt. (S.R.V. I, 174) Mr. Leezer also believed that an investigator spoke to a person who might have been Pratt, but FIGA did not confirm that person's identity. (S.R.V. I, 182-184; S.R.V. III, 479-480, 516) Mr. Leezer conceded that if Pratt did not see the letters and if the person FIGA's investigators spoke to was not Pratt, Pratt would not have violated any obligation to cooperate. (S.R.V. I, 177-184) Likewise,

if Pratt were not involved in the accident and did not own the car, he was not obliged to report the accident. (S.R.V. I, 179-181)

In his April 29, 1996 memo to his supervisor recommending the coverage denial, Leezer acknowledged that Pratt had been served. (S.R.V. III, 527) He advised that the claim was a double fatality, and the Estate's theory of liability against Pratt was based on the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. <u>Id</u>. He stated that the reservation of rights letters had been returned, or signed for by one other than the insured. <u>Id</u>. He also explained that investigators were not successful locating Pratt and the investigators had only spoken to a person who denied being Pratt and then admitted to being him. The memo further states that Pratt lied in the application for a dealer's license. (S.R. VIII, 520) Leezer further explained that the vehicle was probably <u>not</u> owned by Pratt and that the registered owner at the time of the occurrence was Brian Richotte.

The memo stated that a minimal \$5,000.00 offer had been made and rejected, and Plaintiff's counsel indicated he would accept \$20,000.00-\$25,000.00 to settle. <u>Id</u>. Leezer recommended that FIGA not defend or file a declaratory action based on Pratt's failure to report the accident, his failure to cooperate and a material misrepresentation. Leezer acknowledged that "... more than likely... Pratt would take no action just as he has not done so to date."

Doreen Loughlin, a FIGA supervisor, confirmed the underlying complaint contained allegations against a person insured for bodily injury arising from the ownership, maintenance or use of a motor vehicle. She also confirmed that the allegations triggered no exclusions or conditions. (S.R.V. III, 454) Sam Allen, the adjuster who assumed responsibility for the file subsequent to Mr. Leezer's retirement, likewise conceded that if the allegations of the amended complaint in the underlying tort case were taken as true, that the amended complaint would have contained allegations against the person insured for a vehicle insured under the policy for damages that were covered under the policy and not otherwise excluded. (S.R.V. II, 364-371) Even Mr. Leezer acknowledged the principle that FIGA was required to accept the complaint's allegations as true to determine FIGA's defense obligation, but that FIGA took a position of no coverage for the reasons expressed in his memo. (R.V. III, 233-235)

Finally, Doreen Loughlin confirmed that FIGA had never tendered its policy limits, nor had it ever tendered a return of premium when it asserted the misrepresentation defense. (S.R.V. III, 398, 407)

ISSUES

I.

WHETHER FIGA BREACHED ITS STATUTORY DUTIES AND THE DEALERS CONTRACT BY FAILING TO DEFEND OR PAY A COVERED CLAIM?

<u>II</u>.

WHETHER FIGA IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYMENT IN EXCESS OF THE BODILY INJURY LIABILITY LIMITS?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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