IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1259

BETTY JONES, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Althea Jones, as Assignee of MICHAEL PRATT, d/b/a/ SPRUILL AUTO SALES,

Petitioner,

v.

FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, INC., individually and on behalf of DEALERS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD BURTON BUSH
Fla. Bar Id No. 0294152
BUSH, AUGSPURGER & LYNCH,

P.A.

3375C Capital Circle, N.E., Ste. 200 Tallahassee, FL 32308 Telephone: (850) 386-7666 Telefax: (850) 386-1376

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

FIGA is a statutory creation designed to serve solely as "the mechanism for the payment of covered claims...." *O'Malley v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc.*, 257 So.2d 9, 10 (Fla. 1971), §631.51, Fla. Stat. (1979). The "legislature was careful to restrict [FIGA's] potential liability...as to its own allegedly wrongful activities." *Fernandez v. Fla. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, Inc.*, 383 So.2d 974, 975 (3rd DCA 1980), §631.66, Fla. Stat. (1979).

Here, the Plaintiff sues solely in her capacity as the assignee of Michael Pratt d/b/a Spruill Auto Parts. Plaintiff seeks to recover \$75,000,000.00 against FIGA for its failure to defend Michael Pratt. *Fla. Ins. Guar Ass'n v. Jones*, 847 So.2d 1020, 1022 (1st DCA 2003). All of Plaintiff's claims arise out of duties Plaintiff contends FIGA owed Pratt, whether statutory, contractual or fiduciary. *Id.* at 1022. Though couched in breach of duties, Plaintiff's claims against FIGA sound in bad faith, for which alleged conduct the legislature expressly granted FIGA immunity. *Id.* at 1022, *Fernandez, supra*.

FIGA preformed its duties in good faith and determined Plaintiff's claim was not a covered claim under its Act. §631.54, Fla. Stat. (1996). Pratt had one (1) year to sue FIGA to enforce his rights. §631.68. Pratt never sued FIGA.

Rather, long after Pratt's right to sue ran, Pratt assigned his rights to the Plaintiff, Petitioner here. The trial court below never addressed the issue of whether the underlying auto accident was a covered claim. It awarded Plaintiff the statutory maximum of \$299,900.00, plus interest. On appeal, the First District held that Plaintiff's "claims for damages as alleged, are not covered obligations under the FIGA Act and are barred by FIGA's immunity protection." *Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Jones*, at 1022. The First DCA relied on *Fernandez v. Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 393 So.2d 974 (3rd DCA 1980). Petitioner claims jurisdiction here, based on apparent conflict with *Florida Ins. Guar Ass'n v. Giordano*, 485 So.2d 453 (3rd DCA 1986). *Fernandez, Giordano* and this case, are in complete harmony and jurisdiction should be revisited.

Plaintiff seeks to do an end run around FIGA's immunity by suggesting that failure to defend is inaction. Plaintiff argues that FIGA took no action, and, therefore, it's immunity fails. Further, Plaintiff argues that FIGA should be responsible for the entire excess verdict, in violation of the FIGA Act, and every case interpreting the FIGA Act. Plaintiff also argues that it is entitled to interest on the \$75,000,000.00 in violation of the FIGA Act and cases interpreting the Act. Plaintiff presents no cognizable claim.

I. WHETHER THE FIRST DISTRICT'S DECISION IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH FERNANDEZ V. FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, 383 SO. 2D 974 (FLA. 3D DCA 1980) AND/OR FLORIDA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION V. GIORDANO, 485 SO. 2D 453 (FLA. 3D DCA 1986)

While this court accepted jurisdiction to hear this appeal, FIGA still believes there is no express or direct conflict with other decisions in the state and suggests that jurisdiction is still lacking. The First District's decision in this case does not expressly and directly conflict with either of the Third District's decisions in *Fernandez v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Association*, 383 So.2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) or *Florida Insurance Guaranty Association v. Giordano*, 485 So.2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). The decision in this case is in complete harmony with *Fernandez* because, like the situation in this case, in *Fernandez*, the Third District held that under the FIGA Act immunity provisions, no bad faith claims against the Association are cognizable.

Petitioner sought this Court's conflict jurisdiction under Article V, section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, which provides for discretionary jurisdiction to review the District Court's decision only if the decision "expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (emphasis

added). To determine whether there is conflict, the Court may only examine "the four corners of the [district court's] majority decision," *see Reaves v. State*, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986), not the underlying record. Further, the conflict must concern the very same point of law. *Wainwright v. Taylor*, 476 So.2d 669, 670 (Fla. 1985). This is because the true purpose of conflict review is to eliminate inconsistent views about the same question of law. *Id*.

In Fernandez, the plaintiff was injured in an automobile accident negligently caused by the insured. When the insured's carrier went bankrupt, the Association took over defense of the lawsuit. After the Association rejected an offer to settle the claim for the policy limits, the plaintiff recovered a jury verdict larger than the policy limits and brought a separate action against the Association to recover the difference between the policy limits and the jury verdict. Plaintiff alleged that the Association itself had been guilty of a bad faith refusal to settle the claim within the policy limits. The trial judge dismissed the complaint with prejudice on the sole ground that, as a matter of law, no such action could be maintained against the Association based on the FIGA Act immunity provisions. The Third District affirmed explaining that the Association's responsibility was a type of vicarious liability in that it took over the duties of the insolvent insurance

companies and even then, only to a limited extent. *Fernandez*, 383 So. 2d at 975. Moreover, the Third District noted, the Associations' own liability was further limited by the immunity provisions set forth in the FIGA act. <u>Id.</u> The Third District explained:

FIGA is a statutory creature which is designed to serve solely as "the mechanism for the payment of covered claims under certain classes of insurance policies of insurers which have become insolvent." In establishing the institution, however, the legislature was careful to restrict its potential liability not only concerning its vicarious responsibility for the acts of the companies it succeeds . . . <u>but also as to its own allegedly wrongful activities</u> . . . <u>which is the [issue] before us</u>.

Fernandez, 383 So. 2d at 975 (internal citations and footnotes omitted; emphasis added). After examining the text of the immunity statute,⁴ the Third District concluded that the statutes' provision that "no cause of action of any nature" could arise against the Association itself included the bad-faith failure to settle

There shall be no liability on the part of, and no cause of action of any nature shall arise against, any member insurer, the association or its agents or employees, the board of directors, or the department or its representatives for any action taken by them in the performance of their powers and duties under this part.

⁴ The FIGA immunity statutes, section 631.66, Florida Statutes (2002) (emphasis supplied), provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

claim set forth by the Plaintiff in Fernandez and thus, the claim was not cognizable.

The Petitioner in this case attempts to invoke this Court's conflict jurisdiction by asserting that the First District's decision in this case "misapplied" the Third District's decision in *Fernandez*. While the First District's decision in this case concerned a <u>failure to defend claim</u> and the Third District's *Fernandez* decision concerned a <u>failure to settle claim</u>, both decisions were based on the same principle that the Association is statutorily protected against suit for its own allegedly "bad faith" actions based on the broad immunity provisions set forth in the FIGA statute.

Petitioner also attempts to back-up her "misapplication" theory by asserting that the First District in this case should have reversed only a portion of the verdict (the excess judgment) because only the excess judgment portion of the verdict in *Fernandez* was reversed. The reason, however, for this difference in the two decisions is based on a difference in the facts of each case. In

In insurance law, an improper refusal to defend allegation has been determined to be a "bad faith" claim. See, e.g. *Kelly v. Williams*, 411 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) ("The essence of a 'bad faith' insurance suit . . . is that the insurer breached its duty to its insured by failing to properly or promptly defend the claim, which may encompass its failure to make a good faith offer of settlement within the policy limits, all of which results in the insured being exposed to an excess judgment.") (internal parentheses omitted).

Fernandez, the Association did not contest that the claim was a "covered claim." As specifically set forth in the *Fernandez* decision, the Association accepted the case; assumed responsibility for the defense of it, and paid the limits of the insolvent carrier's policy. Plaintiff Fernandez, however, sought more than the limits of the insolvent carrier's policy; she sought an excess judgment against the Association above and beyond the limits of the insolvent carrier's policy for an alleged bad faith refusal to settle before trial. The Fernandez court did not preclude the plaintiff from recovery of the limits of the policy because the Association had never contested that amount and recovery of those amounts were not based on the bad-faith theory. In the First District's decision in this case, however, the Association contested the entire award as it had concluded that none of it was covered by the FIGA Act. Further, all of the money awarded by the trial court in this case was based on the alleged bad-faith failure to defend claim. In a nutshell, therefore, the *Fernandez* court allowed the plaintiff to retain the policy limits of \$10,000 because coverage was never contested by the Association and that amount was not the basis of the bad faith claim.

The decision in this case is not in express and direct conflict with *Florida*Insurance Guaranty Association v. Giordano, 485 So.2d 453 (Fla. 3d DCA)

1986), because both the holding and the facts in *Giordano* are completely The facts in this case showed that the Association had distinguishable. determined that the claim was not a "covered claim" for which the insolvent insurance company was or would have been responsible. In Giordano, on the other hand, the Third District specifically stated that neither the insolvent insurance company nor the Association had ever denied that the claim was a "covered claim." Giordano, 485 So.2d at 456 ("The statute clearly states that FIGA shall be deemed the insurer to the extent of its obligations of the insolvent insurer. . . [and]. . FIGA did not dispute that the wrongful death action was "covered claim."). The distinction is paramount because the entire basis for the relief granted in *Giordano* was that the Association was vicariously liable for the "covered claim" because it "stood in the shoes" of the insolvent insurance company. Giordano, 485 So.2d at 455. In the First District's decision in this case, there was no "covered claim," and thus, no vicarious liability.

In absence of any express and direct conflict, this court should reconsider its decision to accept jurisdiction.

II. THE PLAINTIFF'S CAUSES OF ACTION, WHILE COUCHED IN BREACH OF DUTIES, SOUND IN BAD FAITH AND ARE NOT COGNIZABLE.

"FIGA is a statutory creature which is designed to serve solely as the 'mechanism for the payment of covered claims under certain classes of insurance policies of insurers which have become insolvent.' § 631.51, Fla. Stat." Fernandez v. Florida Ins. Guaranty Ass'n, 383 So. 2d 974, 975 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) A "covered claim" is defined at Section 631.54(4) as "an unpaid claim...which arises out of, and is within the coverage, and not in excess of, the applicable limits" of the Dealers insurance policy which provided coverage for garage operations in the amount of \$25,000.00.

Section 631.57(1)(a)2 provides that the obligation for covered claims "shall include that amount for each covered claim which is in excess of \$100 and is less than \$300,000.00...." This provision, which requires reference to the definition of "covered claim" at Section 631.54(4), is clear and unambiguous. FIGA is charged with paying properly presented "covered claims" up to the applicable limits of the underlying insurance policy. However, Section 631.57(1)(a)2 limits the liability to \$300.000.00, should the insurance policy limits in question exceed that amount.

Jones, as assignee of Michael Pratt, contends that the statutory limits on the amounts for which FIGA may be liable do not apply in this case because it alleges FIGA did not perform its statutory duties, and instead, refused to perform its duties. Section 631.66 provides the unequivocal and unambiguous response to that contention:

There shall be no liability on the part of, and no cause of action of any nature shall arise against, any member insurer, the association or its agents or employees, the board of directors, or the department or its representative for any action taken by them in the performance of their powers and duties under this part.

In Fernandez v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Assoc., Inc., 383 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980), pet. denied, 389 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 1980), FIGA rejected an offer to settle the claim for \$10,000.00. The plaintiff obtained a verdict in the amount of \$54,000.00. The insured then brought an action against FIGA, alleging that FIGA had been guilty of bad faith in its refusal to settle the claim within the policy limits. The trial judge dismissed the action with prejudice on the sole ground that no such action may be maintained against FIGA. Citing section 631.66, the court held:

This provision clearly, unambiguously, and directly applies to the present situation. It is obvious that the present claim arises from FIGA's refusal to accept the \$10,000 settlement offer which was an

'action' it took 'in the performance of (its) powers and duties' under the statute to dispose of the covered claim in question. An application of the plain terms of § 631.66, which neither require nor permit judicial construction, therefore compels the conclusion that no bad faith action lies against FIGA.

Both the statute and the opinion in *Fernandez* "clearly, unambiguously, and directly" apply to this case as well. *See also Florida Ins. Guaranty Assoc. v. Giordano*, 485 So. 2d 453, 457 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); *Rivera v. Southern Am. Fire Ins. Co.*, 361 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

The only authority offered by Petitioner in support of her theory that FIGA should be liable for its alleged failure to perform its statutory duties is the opinion in Washington Ins. Guar. Ass=n. v. Ramsey, 922 P. 2d 237 (Alaska 1996). The Alaska Supreme Court is at odds with all other jurisdictions that have rendered an opinion on the issue of the direct liability of an insurance guarantee association. In fact, that court considered, among other opinions, Fernandez, supra. The Ramsey court, in analyzing the Fernandez case, felt it was Aunclear from the opinion whether the suit was brought in contract, in tort, or as a statutory action. Ramsey at 246. And if the suit was brought to enforce FIGA=s statutory obligations, we think that the Florida court misinterpreted the immunity provision by ruling that FIGA was immune from the suit. Id.

The *Fernandez* court did not engage in a discussion of whether the action was Abrought in contract, in tort, or as a statutory action@ because there is no viable claim under any of these theories. The *Ramsey* court used a large broom to sweep aside the opinions in all other jurisdictions that had considered this issue.

In Ramsey, the Alaska Supreme Court was interpreting the State of Washington-s insurance guaranty fund statute. The Ramsey court rejected the decisions of the Washington Supreme Court and intermediate appellate court interpreting the immunity provisions of the Washington statute. Id. at 245. Vaughn v. Vaughn, 23 Wash. App. 527, 597 P. 2d 932 (Wash. App. 1979), Evans v. Continental Casualty Co., 40 Wash. 2d 614, 245 P. 2d 470 (Wash. 1952), Murray v. Mossman, 56 Wash. 2d 909, 355 P. 2d 985 (Wash. 1060), and Hamilton v. State Farm Ins., 83 Wash. 2d 787, 523 P. 2d 193 (Wash. 1974). Disregarding the Vaughn decision, the Ramsey court noted, AInterestingly, the court did not consider the immunity provision of the act, but instead reasoned that such a tort would not be a xovered claim= with the meaning@ of the Washington statute. Because the Vaughn decision did not consider contract or statutory claims against the guaranty fund, the Alaska court reasoned that the door

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